## Pella<sup>®</sup> Entry Doors: Fiberglass and Steel



Owner's Manual





**Congratulations** on the purchase of your entry door from Pella! You have joined a select group of homeowners who have made their homes more beautiful and comfortable with Pella® products for nearly 100 years. Our fiberglass and steel Pella® Entry Doors offer more beauty, performance and value than any other door.

With proper installation, care and operation, your entry door will provide years of enjoyment. Read this manual thoroughly during your first few days of ownership so you feel comfortable operating, cleaning and maintaining your entry door. Then refer to it in the future, should a question arise.

Entry door systems from Pella offer elegant decorative glass, stylish hardware and a variety of finishes. But the real beauty of our fiberglass and steel entry doors is their outstanding performance, energy efficiency and low-maintenance features that make your life easier.

Finally, rest assured that Pella will be here for you today ... and for years to come. Your complete satisfaction is of utmost importance to us. If you have any questions or concerns – or would like to learn more about exclusive options available for your entry door – help is as close as your local Pella Window and Door Showroom or pella.com. A commitment to service that's as strong as our windows and doors.

### How to use your Pella<sup>®</sup> Entry Doors: Fiberglass and Steel owner's manual

The Pella Entry Door Owner's Manual contains specific information for troubleshooting and preventive maintenance to keep your entry door system operating smoothly for years to come.



### Contents

Quick Reference Guide	
Door Components	1.1
Operation	
Multipoint locking system	2.1
Blinds-between-the-glass	2.1
Cleaning	
Cleaning the glass	3.1
Spot-cleaning stubborn materials on all glass	3.1
Cleaning the door panel	3.1
Cleaning hardware finishes	3.1
Finishing	
Overview	4.1
Before you begin	4.1
Fiberglass vs. steel	4.1
Finishing questions	4.2
Finishing tips	4.2
Cleaning the door panel and sidelights	4.2
Testing the stain	4.2
Staining fiberglass	4.3
Topcoat application – Stain	4.3
Painting	4.4
Selecting your door paint	4.4
Painting fiberglass	4.4
Painting steel	4.4
Finishing the frames	4.5
Touch-up and repairs	4.5
Stain and topcoat	4.5
Paint	4.5

#### **Recommended Maintenance** Overview 5.1 5.1 Maintaining the interior Maintaining the exterior 5.1 Salt spray environments 5.1 Troubleshooting Overview 6.1 Glass breakage or damage 6.1 Difficult operation 6.1 Water and air infiltration 6.2 Preventing roomside condensation 6.2 Understanding condensation 6.2 Humidity and condensation 6.2 Causes of condensation 6.2 Older vs. newer homes 6.2 Measuring and controlling humidity 6.3 Exterior condensation 6.3 Tips for wintertime moisture management 6.3 For more information ... 6.3 **Additional Information** Pella Unit ID: Service made simple 7.1 EIFS and synthetic stucco 7.1 Storm door usage recommendation 7.1 NFRC label 7.1 Warranty Go to pella.com/warranty.

# **Quick Reference Guide**

This diagram will help you identify the components of your entry door.

**Frame**. It's the framework that surrounds and supports the entire door system.

• Our innovative, low-maintenance frame system for fiberglass and steel entry doors is rot resistant and provides years of exceptional energy efficiency and performance.

**Frame corner construction.** Frame corners are a coped joint with metal fastener for exceptional strength and performance.

**Pella Unit ID.** To help save you time if your door ever needs service or repair, Pella products include a special identification number. On your entry door from Pella, you'll find the Pella Unit ID Number on the top hinge.

**Insulated foam core.** This insulation material inside the door panel contributes to the door's energy efficiency.

**Steel deadbolt reinforcement plate.** It provides added security by reinforcing the deadbolt and strengthening the door frame.

**Optional multipoint locking system.** Pella's multipoint lock features three dual-action deadbolts that extend into the door frame when engaged for added security.

**Sill/threshold.** This is the bottom of the frame that rests on the floor.

**Door sweep.** This energy-efficient and weather-resistant weatherstripping system at the bottom of the door forms a seal against air and water infiltration between the door and the sill.



# Operation

### **Multipoint locking system**

Available on fiberglass entry doors.

Pella's multipoint lock features three dual-action deadbolts that extend into the door frame when engaged. When disengaged, the deadbolts function as latches – disengage from the interior by pressing down on the interior handle. If your door is equipped with an entrance-grip handle set, squeeze the "trigger" to operate.

To engage the deadbolts, twist the thumbturn lock on the inside or turn the keylock on the outside. The three latches will extend to their deadbolt position.

The multipoint lock includes a "panic" feature, which allows you to disengage the deadbolts and operate the door with one smooth motion by pressing down on the interior handle. From the exterior, insert the key into the keylock and turn to disengage.

**CAUTION:** Make sure the door is completely closed before engaging the multipoint deadbolts. Failure to do so may damage the door's finish or frame.



### Blinds-between-the-glass

Available on select Pella entry doors

The aluminum blinds-between-the-glass are permanently installed between panes of glass so they stay clean and never need to be removed.

Move the operators up and down in a slow and steady motion. The operators are attached to the operating mechanism with high-powered magnets. Moving the operators abruptly could cause them to become disengaged from the magnet.

**NOTE :** If a handle becomes disengaged from the operator and remains attached to the track, slide the operator up and down until the magnet reengages. Slowly slide the handle all the way to the top of the track to fully engage the handle with the operator.

**NOTE :** If the blind does not completely lower on one side, using the tilt operator, ensure the slats are in the open position, then raise and lower the blind.





# Cleaning

### **Cleaning the glass**

To wash the glass:

- 1. Use a premixed vinegar-based cleaning solution (or make your own with one part white vinegar to 10 parts water), and apply to a soft, clean, lint-free microfiber cloth or paper towel. Or you may use an ammonia-free glass cleaner such as Windex<sup>®</sup> (clear liquid) or Sparkle<sup>®</sup> (purple liquid). Feel free to be generous with the amount of cleaner you apply, but avoid getting any cleaning solution on the door panel as it may discolor the finish.
- 2. Rub from several different directions.
- 3. Rinse with clear water if streaks remain after cleaning

**CAUTION:** Do not use glass cleaners that are ammonia- or alcohol-based. They may leave streaks or produce a film that attracts moisture or dust.

### Spot-cleaning stubborn materials on all glass

To remove any markings from grease, oil, tape adhesive, crayons or paint, or marks from plastics that may have come in contact with the glass:

- 1. Apply a small amount of a nonabrasive cleaner such as Bar Keepers Friend<sup>®</sup> (SerVaas Laboratories) to a clean, wet cloth or apply a solvent such as acetone or mineral spirits to a clean, dry, lint-free microfiber cloth or paper towel.
- 2. Rub on the areas of glass that need spot-cleaning. Avoid getting any cleanser or solvent on the door panel as it may discolor the finish.
- 3. Wipe clean using a clean, dry, lint-free microfiber cloth or paper towel.
- 4. Then clean the glass as instructed above.

**CAUTION:** Do not use a razor blade to scrape off stubborn materials – doing so may leave permanent marks on the glass or scratches that could cause glass breakage. Contact the Pella Window and Door Showroom nearest you for special cleaning instructions.

### **Cleaning the door panel**

A warm, damp cloth and mild soap may be used on all Pella® fiberglass or steel entry door panels.

### **Cleaning hardware finishes**

A soft cloth and mild cleaner may be used on most hardware finishes for entry doors from Pella.



# Finishing

### Overview

If your entry door from Pella was delivered without an interior or exterior finish (paint or stain), you must finish it within 30 days to protect your investment. Painting or staining and sealing help ensure your entry door will beautify and protect your home the way it was designed to. **Please note that failure to finish your Pella® products in a timely manner may void their warranty.** The Pella warranty does not cover issues associated with improper finishing. Please refer to the warranty at pella.com/warranty.

Pella Corporation is recognized as a quality manufacturer of entry doors. However, your local paint professional is the best source for expert advice on finishing your door. Whether you choose to stain your new entry door or paint it to match your interior décor, be sure to consult your local finishing professional and follow the recommendations in this manual to achieve maximum beauty and performance from your entry door.

**NOTE :** For a professional-looking painted finish, it's important to use quality brush or spray techniques. Contact your local paint professional for recommendations.

**NOTE :** Installation of a steel entry door within five miles of a seacoast is not recommended due to the risk of corrosion, and it will void Pella's steel entry door warranty.

### Before you begin

Before finishing your entry door system from Pella, you must know whether your entry door panel and sidelights are fiberglass or steel. If you're unsure if your entry door is made of fiberglass or steel, place a small magnet on your door – if it sticks, it is most likely steel. Your Pella packaging and/or sales invoice should indicate the door type, or check with your Pella representative for specific information on your product.

### Fiberglass vs. Steel

- Oak-, Fir-, and Mahogany-grain fiberglass entry doors and sidelights can be gel-stained for the beautiful look of wood or painted to complement the colors of your home's exterior or interior trim. Finishing is required.
- Smooth fiberglass doors and sidelights can be painted but not stained. Painting is required.
- Steel doors are factory-primed and can be painted but not stained.
- Exterior frames for fiberglass or steel panels feature an innovative composite material, which is available Smooth or in a Wood Grain texture that is similar to Mahogany grain. The Wood Grain frames can be painted or stained, whereas the Smooth frames can only be painted. Please consult your Pella retailer if you need assistance identifying the frame texture.

### Pella<sup>®</sup> Entry Doors: Fiberglass and Steel



Oak-Grain Fiberglass



Fir-Grain Fiberglass



Mahogany-Grain Fiberglass



Smooth Fiberglass



Smooth Steel

### **Finishing questions**

Your local paint/finish store representative can best address your specific finishing needs. Here are some questions you should ask:

- What are my finish options?
- Which finishes perform best in my region of the country?
- How does the temperature and humidity level at the time of finishing affect my results?
- Should I use an interior or exterior product?
- What do I need to know about product compatibility for example, between the prestain, stain and finish coats?
- What else should be considered to obtain the best results?

**CAUTION:** To maintain proper product performance, DO NOT remove factory-installed weatherstripping, dust pads or gaskets when finishing your products. Air and water leakage may result and will void the warranty if factory-installed items are removed. Instead, we recommend taping off these items to protect them during the finishing process.

**NOTE :** Always wear protective personal equipment when sanding, and read and follow the manufacturer's directions for proper use and disposal of paint, stain or other finishing materials.

### **Finishing tips**

- Only stain, paint or apply topcoat when the temperature is between 50° F (10° C) and 90° F (32° C) and humidity is between 30% and 70%.
- Only apply finishes in a well-ventilated area.
- Paint, stain and apply topcoat to all exposed unfinished edges and surfaces of the door and frame.
- All exterior exposed surfaces should be finished within 30 days of initial exposure.
- Do not apply finish of any kind in direct sunlight.
- Do not sand the fiberglass door.

### Cleaning the door panel and sidelights

Using a clean, dry rag, wipe the entire surface of the door with mineral spirits or acetone for fiberglass and steel panels. Allow the door to dry completely. Then mask all hinges, glass and weatherstripping to prevent the finish from coming in contact with these components. Mask all areas on the unit that you do not wish to finish. Remove or mask any additional hardware on the door (handle, kick plate, etc.) prior to finishing.

### Testing the stain

Prior to finishing your panel, color-test the stain. After stirring the stain well, apply it to a skin sample with a lint-free cloth; then use a 3" brush to brush out the stain to the desired shade. If you do not like the shade of stain, use mineral spirits and a clean rag to remove the stain and repeat stain application until desired look is achieved – then allow six to eight hours for stain to dry. When you have achieved the desired shade of stain, set the practice piece to the side and keep it to match to the final product.

**NOTE :** A stain shade can be controlled by the amount of dry time before brushing out the stain and the amount of pressure used to brush out the stain. Apply stain lightly at first. An additional coat of stain may be applied after eight hours. The more stain you apply, the darker the stain will look.



### **Staining fiberglass**

If a stained wood appearance is desired on wood-grain fiberglass door panels, sidelights and glass frames, apply gel stain and clear finish according to the stain manufacturer's directions. For best results, always apply stain in the direction of the grain. Be sure to finish door edges.

- 1. Stir stain well.
- 2. Using a stain sponge or brush, apply the stain to the components of the door first. The components that may be stained include the door edges, brickmould, jambs, mullions, and glazing frames (see "Finishing the frames" on page 4.5).
- 3. For the panel, work the stain first into the flat portions of the grain and then into the grooves surrounding them by rubbing stain in a circular motion with a stain sponge.
- 4. Stain all the interior-most section(s) of the door panel, and gradually work toward the outside of the panel.
- 5. Stain all sections perpendicular to the interior section(s) just stained.
- 6. Stain the outermost sections of the door panel.
- 7. After the entire door has been covered with stain, use your sponge and lightly drag it in the same direction as the grain in each section to remove any swirl marks in the stain.
- 8. Add texture to the stain for a natural look.
- Oak-, Fir-, and Mahogany-grain fiberglass entry doors. After the desired color has been achieved, but before the stain has dried, "feather" the stain in the direction of the grain using a clean, dry 3" bristle brush to remove any blotchy areas and blend areas of heavy or light stain. Dab brush in corners and crevices to pull out excess stain.
- 9. Allow stain to dry completely (at least eight hours) before proceeding.
- 10. Remove excess stain on brush by wiping brush on a dry cloth.
- 11. Clean brush with mineral spirits when finished.

**NOTE :** Optimal drying conditions are between 50° and 90° F and between 30% and 70% humidity. Since drying time varies depending on temperature and humidity levels, drying time may increase if staining is done in lower temperatures and/or higher humidity than suggested.

12. If a darker stain color is desired, repeat Steps 3 - 8 to apply a second coat.

**NOTE :** Be sure to clean brush thoroughly if it will also be used to apply the clear topcoat. Otherwise, dispose of brush.

13. Dispose of waste according to local regulations

### **Topcoat application - Stain**

Allow the stain to dry at least 48 hours prior to applying topcoat. To test for dryness, get stain sample done prior to staining door and place a piece of masking tape over stain. Rub tape onto surface, and in one quick motion, remove tape. If no stain is removed, the stain is dry. It is recommended that the door panel is recoated with topcoat every 18 - 24 months. Failure to do so may void manufacturer's warranty. Please see your manufacturer's warranty information for more details.

NOTE : A minimum of two coats is recommended. For exterior exposures, a minimum of three coats is recommended.

- 1. Stir topcoat well.
- 2. Wet only the tip of the brush, and apply one thin coat. Brush in the direction of the grain.
- 3. Apply topcoat to various door components and door panel parts in the same sequence as the stain was applied.
- 4. Clean brush with mineral spirits or paint thinner.
- 5. Wait at least six hours between each application of the topcoat. Finish must be completely dry before applying the next coat.

### Do not sand between coats.

6. Repeat Steps 1 - 4 for each additional coat applied.

### Painting - Selecting your door paint

If you are going to paint your entry door panel, be sure to ask a qualified paint/finishing professional to recommend a paint with good blocking resistance. Don't rely on a paint's price or brand name in making your selection – an expensive paint may not necessarily offer good blocking resistance. Failure to use a high-quality paint with good blocking resistance may result in a door that sticks shut even after the paint has dried.

### **Painting fiberglass**

Promptly paint all exterior surfaces, including door panel edges, with two coats of quality exterior paint with good blocking resistance. Then paint all interior surfaces with two coats of quality interior paint with good blocking resistance.

- 1. Stir paint well.
- 2. Wet only the tip of the brush, and apply one thin coat.
- 3. Apply paint to various door components first, such as the door edges, brickmould, jambs, , mullions, and glazing frames. Then paint the panel.
- 4. Clean brush.
- 5. Wait at least six hours between each coat application of the paint. Finish must be completely dry before applying the next coat **Do not sand between coats.**

6. Repeat Steps 1 - 4 for each additional coat applied.

**NOTE** : A primer may be necessary to get proper adhesion. Contact your local paint supplier to determine if a primer is necessary with the selected paint.

**CAUTION:** Finish all exposed door panel edges, including the top edge. This helps reduce the chance of warping. After finishing the entry door system, allow the door to dry completely, in accordance with the paint manufacturer's directions, before closing it.

### **Painting steel**

Steel doors are factory-primed and do not need additional priming. They must be painted promptly after wiping the door clean with a solvent such as acetone or mineral spirits. Allow the cleaning solvent to dry completely – until there is no residual odor. Once wiped clean, the door must be lightly sanded with a 220-grit sandpaper. After sanding, the door must be washed with a mild detergent in warm soapy water, rinsed and then dried. Paint all exterior surfaces and door panel edges with two coats of quality exterior paint with good blocking resistance. Paint all interior surfaces with two coats of quality interior paint with good blocking resistance. Paint all exterior surfaces with two coats of quality interior paint with good blocking resistance.

- 1. Stir paint well.
- 2. Wet only the tip of the brush, and apply one thin coat.
- 3. Apply paint to various door components first, such as the door edges, brickmould, jambs, mullions. Then paint the panel.
- 4. Clean brush.
- 5. Wait at least six hours between each coat application of the paint. Finish must be completely dry before applying the next coat. **Do not sand between coats.**
- 6. Repeat Steps 1 4 for each additional coat applied.

**CAUTION:** Finish all exposed door panel edges, including the top edge; this helps reduce the chance of warping. After finishing the entry door system, allow the door to dry completely, in accordance with the paint manufacturer's directions, before closing it.

### **Finishing the frames**

Pella's complete panel and frame system is engineered to be exceptionally energy efficient. The system does not absorb moisture and is rot resistant.

If you ordered the composite frame unfinished, be sure to clean the surface and paint or stain all surfaces promptly. Paint or stain all surfaces with two coats of quality paint or stain on the interior and exterior surfaces.

**NOTE:** Wood grain composite frames can be painted or stained, whereas the smooth composite frames can only be painted. Please consult your Pella retailer if you need assistance identifying the frame texture.

### Touch-up and repairs - Stain and topcoat

**NOTE :** Do not sand damaged area.

- 1. Wipe damaged area using a clean cotton swab or cotton rag damp with mineral spirits. Allow area to completely dry before applying stain.
- 2. Make sure the color-matched stain is shaken/mixed well before using for touch-up.
- 3. Apply stain to damaged area using an artist brush. DO NOT over-brush the area.

4. Dab at the freshly applied stain with a cotton swab until color match is achieved.

**NOTE :** Repeat stain application and dabbing until desired look is achieved. Allow newly stained area to dry before applying topcoat.

5. Using a polyure thane varnish, apply a fine coat of topcoat over the restained area with a clean artist's brush. Blend as necessary.

NOTE : The size of touch-ups should be kept to a minimum.

### **Touch-up and repairs - Paint**

**NOTE :** Do not sand damaged area.

- 1. Wipe damaged area using a clean cotton swab or cotton rag damp with water. Allow area to completely dry before applying paint.
- 2. Make sure the color-matched paint is shaken/mixed well before using for touch-up
- 3. Apply a thin layer of color-matched paint to damaged area using an artist's brush.

**NOTE :** Use a finer brush for smaller scratches or scuffs.

### **CAUTIONS:**

- Avoid inhalation of fumes or ingestion of stains, topcoats or paints. Follow material-specific safety instructions if necessary.
- Only use materials in a well-ventilated area.
- Keep all materials out of the reach of children.
- Close all containers when not in use.

## **Recommended Maintenance**

### Overview

Pella recommends you inspect your entry door at least annually as part of a home checkup. Recommended maintenance can prolong the life of your entry door and will help ensure maximum warranty coverage. It is recommended that the door panel be recoated with a topcoat every 18 - 24 months. Failure to do so may void manufacturer's warranty. Please see your manufacturer's warranty information for more details. As needed, clean, repaint or restain your entry door, and recaulk around it to help maintain optimal performance. Also, be sure to regularly check for leaks and improper drainage above or around vents and sprinkler systems that may subject your entry door to prolonged water exposure. With recommended care, entry doors from Pella can reward you with decades of beauty and performance.

### Maintaining the interior

At least once a year, inspect the interior finish of your entry door to make certain that the painted or stained finish is in good condition. Ultraviolet rays from the sun can break down the finish and compromise its protective features.

### Maintaining the exterior

An annual checkup can help preserve and maintain the beauty of your Pella® products for years to come. Inspect the sealant/ caulking on the exterior perimeter of your entry door and frame at least once a year. The sealant/caulking helps create a watertight seal between the door frame and the exterior siding (whether it is vinyl, cedar, aluminum, brick, etc.). It is extremely important that the sealant/caulking remains intact and in good condition at all times. The sealant material should not be cracked, broken or missing – or it may cause premature failure of your entry door or other parts of your home. Deterioration that occurs as a result of improper or insufficient maintenance is not covered by the Pella warranty. At the same time, check the exterior paint for corrosion, peeling and/or cracking. If the exterior surface indicates any deterioration, problem areas must be touched up as soon as possible to prevent further damage.

### Salt spray environments

The seacoast environment is extremely hard on all sorts of products (automobiles, recreational vehicles, building products, etc.). Any product used in a seacoast location will require more frequent inspection and maintenance to help it last as long as possible in this harsh environment. Entry doors are no different from other products in this respect.

If your home is in a coastal environment and is subjected to wind-driven salt spray or salt fog, use a mild detergent soap and water to clean exterior and operating hardware at least quarterly – and more often, if necessary – to prevent salt or other abrasive materials from building up.

### **CAUTION:** Do not power-wash.

**NOTE** : Installation of a steel entry door within five miles of a seacoast is not recommended due to the risk of corrosion, and it will void Pella's steel entry door warranty.

# Troubleshooting

### Overview

If you have a concern with your entry door from Pella or need additional assistance from an experienced professional, go online and visit pella.com and look under "Where To Buy," or consult your Yellow Pages (under "Windows) for the Pella Window and Door Showroom nearest you.

### Glass breakage or damage

In the event of glass breakage, consult the Pella Window and Door Showroom nearest you for assistance. Be sure to have your Pella Unit ID Number handy (see "Pella Unit ID: Service made simple" on page 7.1). For safety reasons and to ensure optimum performance, we strongly advise you consult a professional for glass replacement.

Most U.S. and Canadian local codes require the use of tempered glass in doors and other specific applications. Tempered glass can withstand greater impact than ordinary glass, but it is sensitive to scratches. Scratches can cause immediate or delayed breakage. If the glass is tempered, it will break into small, rounded pieces. If tempered glass is broken, likely by law it must be reglazed or replaced with tempered glass.

### **Difficult operation**

### Frame adjustment

Another possibility is that the frame is not square. Measure the diagonal dimensions. If the two measurements are more than 1/8" in difference, the door may need to be reinstalled or panels may need to be adjusted accordingly.



### Door adjustment

- Hinge shim adjustment If the screws are loose at the hinge areas, tighten up all screws at the hinges. You may have to replace or add plastic shims as needed in each hinge. Additional adjustments can be provided by your Pella service specialist at the Pella Window and Door Showroom nearest you.
- Threshold adjustment The door panel may have an adjustable threshold at the sill. Using a straight blade screwdriver, turn all the screws counterclockwise to loosen the screws so the threshold can be lifted off the sill, or clockwise to tighten the screws so the threshold lowers closer to the sill. Some sills may have covers over the adjusting screws. These covers must be removed prior to making any adjustments. Use a stiff blade putty knife to pry the covers from the threshold. Repeat for each adjustment screw. Check for sufficient weatherstrip contact between the bottom weatherstrip and the threshold. Close the door on a dollar bill or sheet of paper located above an adjustment screw; light friction should be felt when pulling the paper out indicating a good seal is being made. If more clearance is needed, adjust the shims between the frame and rough opening.

**NOTE :** DO NOT raise the threshold height > 1/4", due to threshold likely not being secured firmly to the sill.

### Water and air infiltration

- Loose, brittle or damaged weatherstrip Roll the weatherstrip back into the frame if it is loose; replace the weatherstrip if it's brittle or damaged. Also make sure that the weatherstrip joints at the head and jambs are closed. If not, remove the jamb weatherstrip and reinstall it higher up the jamb.
- Loose, brittle or damaged door bottom seals If the panel door bottom seals are missing, misplaced, brittle or damaged, they must be replaced. Contact your Pella service specialist.
- Frame or panel not square- Infiltration can also be caused by a frame that is not square, preventing adequate slab-to-frame contact. Try tightening or loosening the hinge screws or adding or subtracting shims. You may replace the current weatherstrip with a long-reach frame weatherstrip in the head and lock jamb. Check corner pads to ensure these are properly placed on the frame corners.

If the door panel appears to be bowed, stretch a string from top to bottom straight along the panel. If there's a 1/4" or larger gap between the door leaf and the string, the panel has bowed sufficiently to cause operational problems.

### **Preventing roomside condensation**

### **Understanding condensation**

Moisture is present in all homes, but when it becomes excessive, homeowners need to take an active role in protecting their investment.

### Humidity and condensation

Humidity is a measure of the amount of water vapor in the air.

Condensation is water that forms when warm, moist air hits a cooler surface. In homes, it might occur on surfaces such as windows, doors, mirrors, bathroom walls and cold-water pipes.

When interior humidity levels are high, relative to cooler outdoor temperatures, condensation can form on the coldest surface in a room –often the glass in a window or door. While windows and doors do not cause condensation, they may be one of the first places it shows up.

### **Causes of condensation**

Excess humidity is typically the cause of condensation. There are many sources for moisture in a home: showers, dishwashers, clothes washers and dryers, house plants, humans and pets, among others. In newly built homes, additional moisture may escape from building materials such as lumber, plaster and masonry for up to three heating seasons, even with proper airflow and temperature management.

### Older vs. newer homes

Condensation may be less of an issue in older homes if conditions allow for more air exchange between indoors and out, often from around aging, loose or poorly installed windows and doors. However, the tradeoff is higher energy costs. When replacement windows and doors are properly installed and the airflow around them decreases, condensation may form on the glass of the new windows and doors.

Newer homes, on the other hand, are more airtight and energy-efficient. Many have vapor barriers – plastic within the wall cavity blocking moisture passage in either direction. With tighter-fitting windows and doors, vapor barriers and increased insulation, energy costs are lower, but humidity levels must be monitored more closely.

No matter when your home was built, the key is to strike the right balance when it comes to humidity levels. Air that's too dry can cause the following: furniture to dry out and crack; joints and studs to shrink and twist; paint and plaster to crack. Excessive moisture in the home can cause paint to peel and insulation to deteriorate, and condensation on windows and doors can damage sills and trim.

### Measuring and controlling humidity

To determine how much humidity is present in your home, you can purchase a humidity gauge from a hardware store or home center. Invest in a quality unit for greater potential accuracy in assessing humidity levels, or consult an expert. Another way to monitor the interior humidity level is to watch your windows and doors. When interior condensation begins to form, wipe it off. To reduce the humidity, open windows, run exhaust fans or dehumidifiers, or minimize sources of moisture.

### Maximum recommended humidity levels

Outside Temperature	Inside Temperature
20° F to 40° F	Not over 40%
10° F to 20° F	Not over 35%
0° F to 10° F	Not over 30%
-10° F to 0° F	Not over 25%
-20° F to -10° F	Not over 20%
-20° F or below	Not over 15%

Based on engineering studies at 70° F conducted at the University of Minnesota Laboratories.

### **Exterior condensation**

Exterior condensation on windows and doors occurs primarily in the morning when days are warm and humid, but nights are cool. Typically, it clears as the day warms. Exterior condensation can occur at any time, especially in warm, humid climates where interior temperatures are cooler than outdoor conditions. Exterior condensation means that windows and doors are doing their job properly. However, if you spot excessive condensation on the inside of your windows or doors, check your inside humidity – it may be a signal of potential problems if not addressed.

### Tips for wintertime moisture management

- Open window coverings such as blinds, shades, drapes and curtains during daylight hours to increase airflow over the glass.
- Closely monitor the furnace humidifier and any other humidifying devices.
- Be sure louvers and vents for the attic, basement and/or crawl space are open, adequately sized and cross-ventilated.
- Run exhaust fans for kitchen, bathroom and laundry rooms for longer periods.
- Make sure exhaust fans vent directly outside, not into attics or crawl spaces.
- Be sure chimneys are free and clear so moisture in combustion gases can escape.
- Follow the manufacturer's instructions for venting gas appliances. In most cases, that will mean directing vents to the outside of the home.
- Make sure your furnace is in proper working order and is serviced regularly.
- Store firewood outside or in the garage as wood dries, it gives off moisture.
- Install energy-efficient products, such as those that have earned the ENERGY STAR<sup>®</sup> rating.

#### For more information on condensation in the home, consult the following:

- Home Moisture Problems (Series 1437), published by the Oregon State University Extension Services, http://extensionoregonstate.edu/catalog/. Search for "condensation."
- The University of Minnesota Extensions: http://extensions.umn.edu. Search for "condensation."
- Window and Door Manufacturer's Association: www.wdma.com. Search for "condensation."
- University Wisconsin Extensions: www.uwex.edu. Search for "condensation."
- Efficient Windows Collaborative: www.efficientwindows.org. Search for "condensation."

**NOTE** : Condensation that forms in between the panes of insulating glass is not considered "roomside" condensation. Instead, this is an indication of glass seal failure, which cannot be corrected. Contact your Pella representative if this occurs.

# **Additional Information**

### Pella Unit ID : Service made simple

To help save you time if your product ever needs service or repair, all entry doors sold by Pella include a special identification number. On your entry door, you'll find the Pella Unit ID Number on the top hinge.



### **EIFS and synthetic stucco**

Pella® products should not be used in barrier wall systems that do not allow for proper management of moisture within the wall systems, such as Exterior Insulated Finish Systems (EIFS) (also known as synthetic stucco) or similar systems. Except in the states of California, New Mexico, Arizona, Nevada, Utah and Colorado, Pella makes **no warranty of any kind on and assumes no responsibility for Pella windows and doors installed in barrier wall systems. In the states listed above, the installation of Pella products in EIFS or similar barrier systems must be in accordance with Pella's instructions for that type of construction.** 

### Storm door usage recommendation

Entry door systems from Pella are designed to be compatible with the installation of a Pella storm door.

- A ventilating Pella storm door is optimal for use with an entry door from Pella.
- The use of a storm door of any type in higher temperature climates is not recommended.
- The combination of a darker color and direct sun can affect the panel material of an entry door from Pella when a storm door is used.
- The use of the ventilating screen is recommended during the summer months when using a fullview storm door with an entry door from Pella.

### **NFRC** label

What's so special about the National Fenestration Rating Council (NFRC) label?

It represents one standard testing method from an independent source for all kinds and brands of windows and doors. It replaces a system of individual manufacturers testing their own products with many different testing standards. With this label, you can make direct comparisons. Keep in mind, energy efficiency is just one of the many important qualities to look for in windows and doors. The NFRC has one single purpose: to establish and improve upon uniform energy-rating procedures for all brands of windows and doors.

This nonpartisan coalition of professionals includes home and commercial builders, product designers and specifiers, manufacturers, consumer advocates, utility company energy specialists, and government agencies.

Pella Corporation is a member of the NFRC and supports its work on behalf of homeowners and the building industry. If you have any questions about the NFRC, feel free to write to NFRC, 6350 Ivy Lane, Suite 104, Greenbelt, MD 20770 – or call 301-589-1776, fax 301-589-3884 or visit nfrc.org.

**NOTE** : For example purposes only. NFRC ratings will vary by product.

Remove th	ils label after final	Inspection; S	AVE for future re	iterence	
A it	Pella Corporation		Pulla		
NFRC)	Entry Door				
	In-Swi	ng			
	Not Applicable				
National Fenest Rating Cours	off PEL - )	PEL – X – XXX			
CERTIFIE	D				
1	ENERGY PERI	FORMANCE	E RATINGS		
U-F	actor	Sola	r Heat Gain C	oefficient	
0.14	5.68		0.00	5	
AD	DITIONAL PE	RFORMAN	CE RATING	6	
Visible Tr	ansmittance				
0.	.00				
		AFRC's web site at	www.nfrc.org		
Wind Laad Design Pressure (DP) (pd) + 40 / - 40		ENERG) In J	Y STAR® Qu All 50 State	alified s	
Wind Land Design Pressure (DP) (put) + 40 / - 40 (Per ASTM E330)	the state	ENERGY In /	Y STAR® Qu All 50 State meet the critter (Check only or	alified S In he box)	
Wind Load Design Pressure (DP) (pd) + 40 / - 40 (Per ASTM 5300) Air / Wither Performance	for its g	ENERGY In J lazing level? U-factor	Y STAR® Qu All 50 State meet the criter (Check only of SHGC	alified S he box) Yes	
Wind Load Design Pressure (DP) (pd) + 40 / - 40 (Per ASTM 5300) Air / Winter Performance Air Lastop L3 & CHAPP	Denote the second secon	ENERGY In . es this door lazing level? U-factor s 0.21	Y STAR® Qu All 50 State meet the critier (Check only of SHGC Any	alified S ne box) Yes X	
Wind Load Design Pressure (DP) (pd) + 40 / - 40 (Per ASTM E300) Air / Winter Performance Air Laskapp E. 36 CFMFP per ASTM E300	Contraction for its g For: Opaque N or 5 Lite	ENERGY In lazing level? U-factor \$ 0.21 \$ 0.27	Vive the cop / STAR® Ou All 50 State meet the critter (Check only or SHGC Any \$0.30	alified S te box) Yes X	
Wind Load       Design Pressure       (DP) (ad)       + 40 / - 40       (Per ASTM 520)       Ar / Winler       Performance       & A CHARPY       per ASTM 520       White Performance       3.3 pd       per ASTM 527	For: Opaque Si or Si Lite No r Full Lite	ENERGY In / est this door lazing level? U-factor s 0.21 s 0.22 s 0.32	V STAR® Qu All 50 State meet the criter (Check only of SHGC Any \$0.30 \$0.30	alified S ta te box) Yes X	
Wind Load Design Pressure (DP) (and) (Per ASTM ESDO) (Per ASTM ESDO) Ar / Weiter Performance 3.2 pd per ASTM ESPO WW	Contraction of the second seco	ENERGY In / es this door lazing level? U-factor ≤ 0.21 ≤ 0.27 ≤ 0.32	Y STAR® Qu All 50 State meet the criter (Check only of SHGC Any \$0.30 \$0.30	alified S is ne box) Yes X	
Wind Land Beigh Presses (DP) (Jud) + 40 / - 40 (Per ASTM ESS) Ar / Water Pedemassa R Laistage Par ASTM ESS Web - Pedemasca 3.2 pd per ASTM ESS Web - Pedemasca Pedemas	Contraction of the second seco	ENERGY In es this door solaring level? U-factor s 0.21 s 0.32 DP40	STAR® Qu All 50 State meet the criter (Check only of SHGC Any \$0.30 \$0.30 (Design Pre- More tan State	alified S te box) Yes X ssure 40 psf	
Wird Land     Beiging Pressure       (3P) (size)     (3P) (size)       + 40 / - 40     (Per ASTM E320)       // / Performance     Ref United Performance       2.3 (catalog per ASTM E320)     With Performance       3.3 (per ASTM E320)     With Performance       With Performance     3.2 (per ASTM E320)       With Performance     With Performance       3.3 (per ASTM E320)     With Performance       With Performance     With Performance       3.3 (per ASTM E320)     With Performance       With Performance     With Performance       With Pe	Construction Construction For: Construction Construction So or So Little So or So Little So or So Little Construction So or So Little Construction	ENERGY In lazing level s 0.21 s 0.27 s 0.32 DP40	Y STAR® Qu All 50 State meet the criter (Check only of SHGC Any ± 0.30 = 0.30	alified S is ne box) Yes X ssure 40 psf laty	
Wind Land Design Presence (DP) (sof) + 40 / - 40 (Per ASTM SSR) Ar / Winder Performance and Artificial State Performance and Artificial Water Performance and Artificial Water Performance Browners generation Water Performance Browners generation Water Performance Browners generation Water Performance Browners generation Water Performance Browners generation Browners generation Browner	Construction Construction Construction Construction Construction So or So Like So or So Like So or So Like So or So Like Construction So or So Like Construction Constructio	ENERGY In / est this door sozing level? U-factor s 0.21 s 0.27 s 0.22 DP40	Very life of / STAR® Ou All 50 State meet the criterion (Check only or SHGC Any ± 0.30 ± 0.30 (Design Pret- Arr mon Structural C	alified S ine box) Yes X ssure 40 psf haly	
Wind Land Design Presses (DP) (and) + 40 / - 40 (Per ASTM SSR) Ar ( Water Performance Ar ( Water Performance Perform	CETIONELON COLORS	ENERGY In / est this door sazing level? U-factor s 0.21 s 0.27 s 0.22 DP40	Very life of (STAR® Out All 50 State meet the criter (Check only of SHGC Any 10.30 10.30 10.30 (Design Pre- Are and and Structural C In the Notice A Social In t	alified S is he box) Yes X ssure 40 psf haly Mandacharas Al performance	
Wind Land Design Preserve (DP) (sol) (Pri 40 / - 40 (Pri 427M 520) Ar / Refer Pri 427M 520) Ar / Refer Pri 427M 520 Wind Priormance Transformation (Pri 427M 520) Wind Priormance (Pri 427M 520) Wind Priormance (Pri 427M 520) Wind Pri 427M 520 Wind Pri 427M 520	Control of the second s	ENERGY In : wes this door sazing level? U-factor s 0.21 s 0.27 s 0.32 DP40	Version find any (STAR® Out All 50 State meet the criter (check only or sHGC Any 1 0.30 s 0.30 (Design Pret- Structural (Design Pret- Structural) (Design Pre	alified S is no box) Yes X ssure 40 psf hely Mandachares Al performance comp performance	
Wink Load     Design Presses       (3P) (and     (3P) (and       (3P) (and     (3P) (and <	CONTRACTOR  CONTRACTOR	ENERGY In set this door facing level? s 0.27 s 0.32 DP40 ED DP40 ED	Version find any / STAR® Out All 50 State meet the criter (Check only or SHGC Any ± 0.30 ± 0.30 (Ossign Pret- sim can Structural the Window & Door with application With	alified S is ne box) Yes X ssure 40 psf haty Mandacharas Mapeformance ss. For details on	
Wind Load     Beegin Pretures       (37) (100)     (37) (100)	Control of the second sec	ENERGY In Control of the second	A starting of the second secon	alified S is ne box) Yes X issure 40 psf haty Manufactures A performance in For deals on	
Hind Land Bergin Privan (207) Unit (207) Uni	Conception of the second	ENERGY In set this door sating leve? Uf-actor s 0.21 s 0.22 s 0.32 DP40 ED DP40 ED Dech basis et in doording to door status as doording to door status set in doording to door status	A STAR® Ou All 50 State meet the criter (Check only of SHGC Any 1 0.30 s 0.30 (Design Pret- are can Structural ( the Window A Door are information of a the window A Door are information of a are informati	alified S is the box) Yes X assure 40 psf hely Mendatares Apertormance activit performance activit performance	
Wind Land Beegin Privates (307) (and (307) (	Control of the second sec	ENERGY In . ses this door failing level s 0.21 s 0.22 s 0.22 DP40 ED DP40 ED DP40 ED	Very first op (STAR* Ou All 50 State meet the criter (Check only of 10.30	alified S is no box) Yes box) X ssure 40 psf haly Manufactures A performance in For deals on	